
LEFT: C.F.W.Watts was one of Nelson’s early immigrants, arriving 
on the Will Watch in 1841 as a young man aged 17 years. 
He was engaged by the New Zealand Company as a survey cadet and 
after assisting with the survey of Nelson town he was part 
of expeditions that explored routes to Marlborough. 

By the 1850s he was owner of Landsdowne, a sheep station in the 
Wairau Valley – a fine example of the Company’s British recruitment 
scheme which promised new opportunities for emmigrants.

The story of Melrose begins in l871 when Charles Fowell 
Willett Watts bought Town Acre 1091. By 1876 he had 
acquired Town Acre 1093, where the house sits today.
In 1879 Charles commissioned John Scotland to design 
a grand house for himself, his wife Elizabeth (nee Nixon) 
and family. 

The name Melrose was probably chosen because one 
of his daughters, Flora, was born at Melrose Place, 
Clifton England but died in Nelson age 11. Charles did 
not live long at Melrose. He died in 1881and Elizabeth 
continued to live in the house until the early 1900s.

Frances, daughter of Charles and Elizabeth Watts, took over 
Melrose with her husband, Nelson lawyer Percy Bolland 
Adams. They had one son, Noel Percy. Percy Bolland 
Adams was an outdoors enthusiast, took a keen interest 
in trees and spent many hours developing the gardens at 
Melrose and ‘beautifying’ Nelson with street plantings. In 
1905 Frances died and Percy remarried Julia Sarsfield 
Murray, a matron at Nelson Hospital. Percy died in 1930 
and in his memory Julia gifted memorial gates for 
Wakapuaka Cemetery.
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Noel Percy Adams, son of Percy and Frances, now owned 
Melrose. His wife Eileen was prominent in the Women’s 
Division of the Farmers Union – now Rural Women New 
Zealand – and became aware of the need for a rest home 
for rural women. 

In 1943 the first official announcement of the proposed 
gift of Melrose as a Nelson rest home for the Womens 

Division was made. A year later on 24 March 1944 

farmers wives from the Nelson district, together with 
country women from all over the Dominion, gathered 

at a garden party when the Melrose Rest Home was 

officially presented to the W.D.F.U. by the Colonel.  

ABOVE:  Eileen Adams and husband 
Colonel Noel Adams, with Noel’s 
father Percy Adams on the front 
steps of Melrose ouse in the 1920s. 

LEFT:  Melrose House drawing room 
1935-1940.  
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ABOVE: Percy Bolland Adams with son Noel Percy and wife Frances (nee Watts) outside Melrose. Percy 
was a keen hunter and spent many hours in Nelson’sa hills and valleys. On the home front he took a 
liking to Phoenix palms, introducing them to Nelson and planting many around the house and grounds.

The Percy Bolland Adams Memorial Gates that his wife Julia commissioned remain today at the old 
western entrance to Wakapuaka Cemetery on Atawhai Drive and contain a curious motto that is ex-
plained on an interpretation panel at the northern entrance to the cemetery.
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Many branches of the W.D.F.U. fundraised to provide 
Melrose House with the necessities and needs associated 
with running a rest home.  Women from rural New Zealand 
were able to take time out from busy farm and country 
life to enjoy the serenity and peacefulness of Melrose. 

In 1959 a portion of the ground was sectioned off to 
create Melrose Terrace. Eventually, due to high running 
costs and ongoing maintenance, the decision was made 
to close in 1973.

On the relinquishment of the house in 1973, the original 
Trust deed came into effect which provided that Melrose 
be held for the benefit of the citizens of Nelson. At first 
the Nelson City Council declined the gift.  What followed 
were months of debate by Nelson City Council and 

interested members of the public through public meetings, 
petitions, submissions and newspaper articles concerning 
the future of  Melrose. 

The uncertainty over Melrose's future allowed for the 
auctioning in February 1974 of all furniture and fittings. 
This prompted a group of concerned Nelson citizens to 
form the The Colonel Noel Percy Adams Trust (Melrose) 
Society. Eventually, in 1976, the Nelson City Council 

accepted the gift. The Melrose Society took on the 

responsibility and costs associated with the maintenance 
and refurbishment of the interior of the house.  

The Melrose Society commenced a programme of refur-
bishment and maintenance which continues today, with 
the Nelson City Council caring for the exterior of the 
house and gardens.

Melrose House is used as a venue for weddings, birthday 
celebrations, business meetings, seminars, family 
gatherings and community events. 
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ABOVE: For a few months during 1975 Nelson College for Girls 
Preparatory School students took over Melrose as a temporary 
classroom while building progressed on their own classroom just 
down the road.

N
EL

SO
N

 C
O

LL
EG

E 
FO

R
 G

IR
LS

 A
R

C
H

IV
ES

1930’s

1975

W
IL

LI
A

M
 A

D
A

M
S 

C
O

LL
EC

TI
O

N

1920’s
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PERCY BOLLAND ADAMS FRANCES ADAMS JULIA SARSFIELD MURRAY

C.F.W. WATTS ESQUIRE
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ABOVE: Women’s Division of the Farmers Union, Provincial Executive 
at their formation meeting in Nelson in 1933. Eileen Adams is 
amongst the line-up.
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For booking enquires please visit : 
www.melrosehouse.co.nz

More Nelson stories are featured on: 
www.theProw.org.nz

For information on Nelson’s heritage walks, 
sites and events visit : 
www.nelsoncitycouncil.co.nz
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Designed by architect John Scotland 

and built about 1879 for Charles Fowell Willett Watts, 

Melrose House was the subject of heated public debate 100 years later when 

it was gifted to the city. Almost turned down by the Nelson City Council, 

who believed it would burden ratepayers, Melrose today belongs 

to the people of Nelson. M el r o s e  Ho us e
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FAR RIGHT: 
Percy and friends returning 
from a hunting expedition, 

outside Melrose House.

RIGHT: 
Melrose House hallway, 

1935-1940, decorated with 
stag head trophies of Percy 

Bolland Adams.   

BELOW: 
View from Mount Street circa 

1900. Melrose House sits 
prominently in the distance, 

with a paddock-style Fairfield 
Park to the right, Fairfield 

House distant right, and 
Nelson College for Girls 

wooden block with tower 
sitting prominently to the left.
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